RECEIVED

11-18-2019

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP1209-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MOSE B. COFFEE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Winnebago County Circuit Court, the Honorable John A. Jorgensen, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

FRANCES REYNOLDS COLBERT Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050435

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 colbertf@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the totality of circumstances create a basis for a search of Mr. Coffee's vehicle, and of the contents of a backpack found on the backseat floor, after police arrested Mr. Coffee on suspicion of drunk driving, cuffed him, and placed him in the back of a squad car?

The circuit court ruled the search proper because the bag was within reach while Mr. Coffee was driving.

The court of appeals ruled the particularized facts of the case to be irrelevant, and held that as a matter of law police may always search the passenger compartment of a vehicle upon a probable cause arrest of the driver on suspicion of drunk driving.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Statement of the Facts

At the suppression hearing, Officer Timothy Skelton testified that while he was on patrol on August 30, 2017, he observed a vehicle without its required front license plate. (43:6-7, 28). Skelton conducted a traffic stop and identified the driver as Mr. Coffee. (43:7, 8-9, 28-29). Mr. Coffee was outside

the vehicle when Skelton first spoke with him. (43:9) Skelton testified that Mr. Coffee had a slur to his speech and that he could smell the odor of intoxicants, specifically "alcoholic beverages," coming from the direction of Mr. Coffee or the vehicle. (43:9, 50). Skelton testified that Mr. Coffee's eyes were "very glazed over and bloodshot." (43:10). Based on these observations, Skelton conducted field sobriety testing. Mr. Coffee exhibited all six clues on the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, failed to complete the nine-step-walk-and-turn test, and sang the alphabet after being told not to twice. (43:10-11, 12, 15, 19). Skelton then administered a preliminary breath test, which indicated a result of .14. (43: 21-22). Mr. Coffee was then placed under arrest, handcuffed and secured him in the back of his squad car. 1 (43:22).

Three additional officers arrived on scene while Skelton was performing the field sobriety testing. (43:24-25). Skelton instructed the other officers to conduct a search of Mr. Coffee's vehicle incident to the OWI arrest. (43:49-50). Skelton testified that he informed the other officers as to the reason for the arrest—"operating under the influence of alcoholic beverages." (43:50).

Officer Brendon Bonnett testified at suppression hearing stating he arrived on scene after Mr. Coffee's arrest and that Skelton asked him to search Mr. Coffee's vehicle. (43:61-62; App. 110-11). Bonnett testified that he was aware that Mr. Coffee

¹ After he was arrested, Mr. Coffee was transported to the local hospital for a legal blood draw. (1). His blood alcohol concentration was .17. (6).

had been arrested for an OWI offense. (43:62; App. 111). In regard to the scope of the vehicle search, Bonnett testified: "I'd be looking for any substance in the vehicle that could impair a driver's ability to operate the motor vehicle safely." (43:63; App. 112). He further explained: "I would be looking for any substance, whether that could be prescription medication, nonprescription medication, alcohol, illegal drugs, or even up to possibly as inhalant such as Dust-Off . . .". (43:63; App. 112). On cross-examination, Bonnett indicated that he could not recall if he was informed of whether Mr. Coffee's OWI-arrest was alcohol related or not. (43:66; App. 115).

Bonnett further testified as to the details of his search and defense counsel introduced pertinent portions of the footage from Bonnett's body camera. (43:68-71, 75, Ex. 1; App. 117-120).² Bonnett approached Mr. Coffee's two-door vehicle on the driver's side and opened the driver-side door. (43:Ex. 1 at 0:19-0:23).³ He shined his flashlight on the interior of the driver-side door and into the backseat, which illuminated a black backpack bag with a draw-string closure located on the floor behind the driver's seat. (43:64; Ex. 0:50-1:01). He then started a search of the compartment in the driver-

² Defense counsel also identified the specific portions of the body camera footage relevant to the motion to suppress in its supporting memorandum. (14:3). The circuit court also indicated that it had viewed the DVD exhibit prior to the suppression hearing. (43:3).

³ References to particular portions of the body camera footage will be indicated by "Ex. 1" followed by the time at which the particular event referenced appears in the recording.

side door. (43:Ex. 1 at 1:15-1:30). Next Bonnett searched beneath the driver's seat. (43:Ex. 1 at 1:48-1:54). He then used the lever on the driver's seat to flip forward the driver's seat to allow access to the backseat of the vehicle. (43:Ex. 1 at 1:55-1:56). Bonnett then removed items from the floor behind the driver's seat. (43:Ex. 1 at 1:57-1:59).

Bonnett first removed a green cloth bag on the top of the black backpack. (43:Ex. 1 at 2:02-2:05). This revealed a nearly full backpack with various items including a number of cords and cables inside. (43:Ex. 1 at 2:06-2:10). Bonnett removed items from the bag including a cell phone, cardboard packaging, a smaller black pouch, and a box of light bulbs. (43:Ex. 1 at 2:08-2:40). Bonnett continued rummage through the bag and numerous cords and cables contained within before removing some cell phones. (43:Ex. 1 at 2:41-2:59). He continued to dig into the bag and then removed a small mason jar from underneath the remaining items in the bag. (43:Ex. 1 at 2:59-3:22). Bonnett then located a second small mason jar from a similar position within the bag. (43:Ex. 1 at 3:29-3:42). Bonnett testified that he observed what he believed to be flakes of marijuana in the jars. (43:65; App. 114). He also testified that he located sandwich baggies within the black bag. (43:74; App. 123). However, it was unclear whether the video showed the sandwich baggies or whether the baggies found in the black bag were in a box or not. (43:75-76; App. 124-125).

Finally, Officer Benjamin Fenhouse testified to his search of Mr. Coffee's vehicle, which included the passenger side and the trunk. (43:78; App. 127). He testified that he found nothing of evidentiary value in the passenger side of the vehicle, but that he initiated a search of the trunk after Officer Bonnett located the mason jars containing suspected marijuana residue. (43:78-79; 127-128). The officers then found various items of paraphernalia as well as additional marijuana in the vehicle's trunk. (1:4-5).

At the suppression hearing, defense counsel asserted that the search of Mr. Coffee's vehicle incident to his alcohol-related OWI arrest did not permit the search of the black bag behind the driver's seat. (43:85; App. 134). Specifically, counsel argued that it was not reasonable for officers to believe that evidence of the alcohol-related OWI arrest would be found inside the vehicle at the bottom of a bag behind the driver's seat under the circumstances presented. (43:85-88; App. 134-137). Counsel maintained that the unreasonable search of the black bag led to the search of the vehicle's trunk and that the fruits of the unlawful search must be suppressed. (43:89; 138).

The court denied Mr. Coffee's suppression motion, finding the search reasonable.⁴ (43:93-94; App. 142-143). In doing so, the court found as fact that Mr. Coffee's OWI arrest was alcohol related, which allowed officers to search the vehicle for alcohol. (43:90; App. 139). The court then indicated that the black bag at issue was within reach of the driver; therefore, it would be reasonable for officers to

⁴ In the circuit court, Mr. Coffee also challenged the administration of the field sobriety tests, the preliminary breath test, and his subsequent OWI arrest. (10). Mr. Coffee did not renew these challenges on appeal.

believe that alcohol could have been concealed within the bag. (43:92; App. 141). The court said:

I'm really not putting much weight on the fact of where exactly that bottle⁵ was found because it doesn't matter if the defendant just threw it on top of the bag or to conceal it pushed it down to the bottom or in the middle. That's easily done. That's not a difficult task to accomplish. And then you put a few things on it, close it up, that's still all reasonable actions that someone could do and would do if they are trying to hide something from an officer's search when they come up to make contact with a driver. . . .

(43:92-3; App. 141-42). The court concluded that once the jars containing marijuana were found, then officers could search for other evidence of that crime. (43:94; App. 143).

After the court denied Mr. Coffee's suppression motion, the state dismissed charges for possession of drug paraphernalia and operating with a prohibited alcohol content and Mr. Coffee pled no-contest to the OWI, second offense, and to possession with intent to deliver. (43:95; App. 144). Following sentencing, Mr. Coffee appealed.

In the court of appeals Mr. Coffee argued the government's warrantless search of the black backpack, located beneath a green bag, both of which were on the floor of the backseat behind the driver's seat, violated his Fourth Amendment right to be free from an unreasonable search of his person and

⁵ The court later clarified that it meant to say "jar" rather than "bottle." (43:94; App. 143).

property. The court of appeals rejected the argument, holding "as a matter of law that when an officer lawfully arrests a driver for OWI, even if alcohol is the only substance detected in relation to the driver, a search of the interior of the vehicle, including any containers therein, is lawful because it is reasonable to believe evidence relevant to the offense of OWI might be found." State v. Coffee, 2019 WI App 25, ¶13, 387 Wis. 2d 637, 929 N.W.2d 245 (App. 108).

ARGUMENT

Evidence Obtained During a Warrantless Search of Mr. Coffee's Vehicle Incident to His OWI Arrest Must Be Suppressed Because There Was No Reason to Believe That Evidence of the OWI Would Be Found in the Area Searched.

When Mr. Coffee was arrested for OWI. law enforcement had no particular reason—other than the fact of the arrest—to believe that evidence might be found inside his car. The court of appeals held, though, that regardless of the facts known to the at the time of the search, constitutionally permissible because as a matter of police may always search the passenger compartment of vehicle upon a person's arrest for suspected drunk driving. Coffee, 2019 WI App 25, ¶13 (App. 108). In rejecting a case-by-case reasonableness analysis and instead adopting a per se rule to be applied to an entire category of cases—all OWI arrests—the court of appeals decision violates basic Fourth Amendment principles and Arizona v. Gant,

556 U.S. 332 (1981), Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141 (2013); *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, ___ U.S. ___, 139 S. Ct. 2525 (2019).

A correct application of the Fourth Amendment and Gant show the search of Mr. Coffee's car and the bag within in it were not supported by a reasonable belief that they might contain evidence of the OWI. As such, the search was unconstitutional and the fruits of the search should be suppressed.

Appellate review of a circuit court's order on the reasonableness of a Fourth Amendment search presents a question of constitutional fact necessitating a two-step review process. State v. Tullberg, 2014 WI 134, ¶27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. First, this court upholds the court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, this court independently applies constitutional principles to the facts. *Id*.

> Α. Reasonableness guides the analysis for Fourth Amendment searches.

The Fourth Amendment guarantees the right to be free from unreasonable searches. U.S. CONST. amend. IV. "The Fourth Amendment's touchstone is reasonableness, which is measured in objective terms by examining the totality of the circumstances, eschewing bright-line rules and emphasizing instead the fact-specific nature of the reasonableness inquiry." State v. Sumner, 2008 WI 94, ¶20, 312 Wis. 292, 752 N.W.2d 783 (citations omitted); Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 381 (2014). The reasonableness inquiry requires an assessment of "on the one hand, the degree to which [the search]

Page 16 of 37

intrudes upon an individual's privacy and, on the other, the degree to which it is needed for the promotion of legitimate governmental interests." Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 300 (1999).

"conducted outside the Searches judicial without prior approval by judge magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." *Katz v.* United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). The Supreme Court has not delineated an exception to the warrant requirement for automobile searches in suspected drunk driving cases. Such categorical blanket exceptions are condemned generally, see, e.g., Richards v. Wisconsin, 520 U.S. 385 (1997), and have been rejected specifically in the context of drunk driving prosecutions. See McNeely, 569 U.S. 141; Mitchell, 139 S. Ct. 2525. Fourth Amendment reasonableness always "must be determined case by case on the totality of circumstances." McNeely, 569 U.S. at 145.

> "A reasonable belief" in the search-B. incident-to-arrest exception—What does it mean?

The search-incident-to-arrest doctrine was first recognized by the Supreme Court in 1914. See Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 755 (1969). Between 1914 and 1969 when *Chimel* was decided, the scope of the search permitted under the doctrine contracted and expanded repeatedly over the years. Id. at 755-764 (summarizing the early evolution of the doctrine). Chimel reined in the "far from consistent" approach

and overruled prior broad interpretations of the doctrine. Id. at 768 (overruling Harris v. United States, 331 U.S. 145 (1947) and United States v. Rabinowitz, 339 U.S. 56 (1950)). Specifically, after *Chimel* evidence-gathering searches of the premises were no longer justified by the fact of arrest. Id. Chimel held a search incident to constitutional only if there are concerns of officer safety or evidence destruction and therefore any search incident to arrest must be limited to "the search of the arrestee's person and the area 'within his immediate control." Id. at 755, 763. Until Arizona v. Gant was decided in 2009, searches pursuant to the search-incident-to-arrest doctrine were at least purportedly justified by the *Chimel* rationale. See e.g. New York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 460, n.3 and Thornton v. United States, 541 U.S. 615, 626 (2004) (each citing Chimel, 395 U.S. 752).

Gant defined the present scope of a searchincident-to-arrest exception to the requirement in the automobile context.⁶ Prior to Gant, New York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 460 (1981), allowed the search of the passenger compartment of an automobile contemporaneous to the lawful arrest of a recent occupant. Despite its stated adherence to the justifications of officer safety and evidence preservation, however, the *Belton* rule was routinely applied to situations where the motorist was handcuffed and secured in the back of a squad car, leaving no possibility that the arrestee would harm the officer or destroy evidence. See Thornton,

 $^{^6}$ This Court adopted Gant in $State\ v.\ Dearborn,$ 2010 WI 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97.

541 U.S. at 617 (affirming and extending the holding in Belton) (Scalia, J. concurring). Sharply criticizing the situation created by *Belton* in his concurrence in Thornton, Justice Scalia noted: "we have now abandoned our constitutional moorings and floated to a place where the law approves of purely exploratory searches of vehicles during which officers with no definite objective or reason for the search are allowed to rummage around in a car to see what they might find." *Id.* (citations and quotations omitted).

Justice Scalia's Adopting concurrence in Thornton, the Gant Court corrected the pervasive misapplication of the search-incident-to-arrest doctrine, holding Belton's bright-line rule was based on a "faulty assumption" that erroneously authorized "myriad unconstitutional searches." Gant, 556 U.S. at 350-51. The Court explained, "[t]o read Belton as authorizing a vehicle search incident to every recent occupant's arrest untether[s] the rule from the justifications underlying the *Chimel* exception." *Id.* at 344.

Thus, recognizing that a motorist's privacy "important deserving interests are and protection," constitutional Gant rejected the automatic-search rule and retethered the searchincident-to-arrest doctrine to the Constitution. After Gant "[p]olice may search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only if [1] the arrestee is of within reaching distance the passenger compartment at the time of the search or [2] it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of arrest." Id. at 351.

The second prong of the rule, that officers may search when it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of arrest, however, was newly created in *Gant* and not an outgrowth of the historical justifications (officer safety and evidence preservation). Id. at 343. As such, there is little direction from precedential case law interpreting the scope of this new evidence-gathering search permitted only in the vehicle context and authorized by "reasonable to believe." The facts and reasoning in *Gant* itself however, provide the boundaries for this prong. And above all, "since the historical scope of officer's ability to search incident to arrest is uncertain, traditional standards of reasonableness govern." Id. at 351 (Scalia, J. concurring).

> 1. "Reasonable to believe" requires a showing of particularized facts to support the belief.

First, the "reasonable to believe" clause clearly does not authorize a search by the fact of arrest alone as such a reading would be at odds with Gant's holding.

Second, the cases discussed in Gant as well as the facts that gave rise to the unconstitutional search of Mr. Gant's vehicle illustrate that "reasonable to believe" requires a showing of particularized facts that form a basis for the belief in order for the search to pass constitutional muster. Gant cited cases involving moving traffic offenses, like failure to wear a seatbelt and speeding (where the existence of real or documentary evidence is precluded by the nature

of the offense) as examples of cases where there "will be no reasonable basis to believe the vehicle contains relevant evidence." Id. at 343 (citations omitted). But in addition to that, both the majority and the concurrence easily concluded that Mr. Gant's offense, driving with a suspended license, was also an offense where there was no reason to believe evidence of the crime of arrest would be in the car. However, unlike moving traffic violations, documentary evidence does exist for driving without a license. In order to commit the crime in Arizona, the driver must know his/her license is suspended – some kind of documentation or an official notice suspending the license would be evidence of the crime. See State v. Yazzie, 307 P.3d 1042 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2013) (state is required to prove that defendant knew or should have known that his license was suspended at time of his offense). This possibility, however, did not create a reasonable belief that this evidence might have been in the car: to believe" requires more than a "reasonable possibility.

Further, the officer who searched Mr. Gant's car offered no specific facts or rationale as to why he searched the car other than "the law says we can do it." Id. at 337. Gant specifically noted "police" entitlement" was not a "genuine ... evidentiary concern" and that "it is anathema to the Fourth Amendment to permit a warrantless search on that basis." Id. at 347.

In addition, Gant was explicit that it was not overruling the holdings in Belton and Thornton. Id. at 343-44, 346. Rather, Gant explained, the new rule and reasoning announced in Gant affirmed the

Filed 11-18-2019

constitutionality of the searches in those cases. Id. Both cases involved drug possession arrests and in each, specific facts created a reasonable belief that more drugs might be in the car. The vehicle search in Belton was justified because "the officer smelled burnt marijuana and observed an envelope on the car floor marked 'Supergold'—a name he associated with marijuana." Gant, 556 U.S. at 339. In this same vein, in *Thornton* the defendant volunteered he possessed illegal narcotics, and produced "two individual bags, one containing three bags of marijuana and the other containing a large amount of crack cocaine," from which intent to deliver could be inferred. 541 U.S. at 618. These specific facts gave rise to a reasonable belief that there would be more evidence of the crime of arrest inside the car.

In sum, Gant rejected Belton's automaticsearch rule because of the Fourth Amendment's "concern about giving police officers unbridled discretion to rummage at will among a person's private effects." Id.at 345. Gant therefore implemented a narrower, constitutional rule. The new rule rejects automatic searches and inserts "reasonable to believe" into the analysis. The new rule requires more than a possibility that evidence of the crime of arrest might be found in the car. The belief must be grounded in particularized facts and the search will not be justified by police entitlement. Anything short of these parameters unconstitutional.

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