# RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-09-2019

IN SUPREME COUR **FLERK OF SUPREME COURT** OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP1209-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MOSE B. COFFEE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN A. JORGENSEN, PRESIDING

# **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### The search of Coffee's car was constitutional.

A. A vehicle search incident to a recent occupant's arrest does not require a warrant if "it is reasonable to believe that evidence of the offense of arrest might be found in the vehicle."

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution states, "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated." U.S. Const. amend IV. Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution contains a nearly identical prohibition on unreasonable searches and seizures.<sup>2</sup> Generally speaking,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated." Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. This Court has regularly held that the protections afforded by this section of

warrantless searches "are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967) (footnotes omitted).

Two years after *Katz*, the Supreme Court recognized the search incident to arrest as an exception to the warrant requirement in *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752 (1969). In *Chimel*, police obtained an arrest warrant for Chimel on suspicion of burglary. *Id.* at 753. They went to Chimel's home and waited there for him; when he arrived, they handed him the arrest warrant and asked his permission to "look around." *Id.* Chimel objected, but the police searched his entire home regardless, seizing multiple items of evidentiary value. *Id.* at 754.

The Court began by reviewing the history of the search incident to arrest, which it traced to its own jurisprudence in 1914 and an acknowledgment of "the right on the part of the Government, always recognized under English and American law, to search the person of the accused when legally arrested to discover and seize the fruits or evidences of crime." *Id.* at 755 (quoting *Weeks v. United States*, 232 U.S. 383 (1914)). The Court held, however, that while the search incident to arrest was an exception to the warrant requirement, the search of Chimel's home violated the Fourth Amendment because the scope of a search incident to arrest must be limited to the area

the Wisconsin Constitution are identical to those created by the Fourth Amendment, except in extremely limited cases related to defective no-knock search warrants. See, e.g., State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 14, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. Coffee has not made an argument that this Court should interpret the Wisconsin Constitution differently than the United States Constitution in this case.

where the suspect could reach a weapon or evidence—the area within his "immediate control." *Chimel*, 395 U.S. at 768.

Twelve years after *Chimel*, the Supreme Court ruled that a recent arrestee's vehicle was within his "immediate control" within the meaning of *Chimel. New York v. Belton*, 453 U.S. 454, 462 (1981). In *Belton*, a police officer stopped a car for speeding. *Id.* at 455. When the officer approached the car, he smelled burnt marijuana and saw an envelope on the floor of the car marked with a name he associated with marijuana. *Id.* at 455–56. The officer arrested the four occupants of the vehicle, read them the *Miranda*<sup>3</sup> warnings, and searched the passenger compartment of the car. *Id.* at 456. In a jacket owned by Belton on the back seat of the car, the officer discovered cocaine. *Id.* 

The Court noted that "[a]lthough the principle that limits a search incident to a lawful custodial arrest may be stated clearly enough, courts have discovered the principle difficult to apply in specific cases." Id. at 458. It pointed to a circuit split as evidence that "courts [had] found no workable definition of 'the area within the immediate control of the arrestee' when that area arguably includes the interior of an automobile and the arrestee is its recent occupant." Id. at 460. The Court concluded that "articles inside the relatively narrow compass of the passenger compartment of an automobile are in fact generally, even if not inevitably, within 'the area into which an arrestee might reach in order to grab a weapon or evidentiary ite[m]." Id. (citing Chimel, 395 U.S. at 763) (alteration in original). Therefore, the Court ruled, "when a policeman has made a lawful custodial arrest of the occupant of an automobile, he may, as a contemporaneous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

incident of that arrest, search the passenger compartment of that automobile." *Id.* (footnotes omitted).

In the decades following *Belton*, courts nationwide interpreted the holding therein as permitting a vehicle search whenever an occupant had been arrested. These *Belton* searches, however, still relied on the officer safety and evidence preservation rationales discussed in *Chimel*, even when the arrestees had been secured in the back of a squad car or otherwise prevented from accessing a weapon or evidence. In 2004, the Court began to confront this dissonance.

Thornton involved the stop of a car displaying registration that did not match the vehicle. Thornton, 541 U.S. at 618. The driver of the car—Thornton—had pulled over and gotten out of the car before police could initiate a traffic stop. Id. An officer approached Thornton and asked for his identification. Id. Thornton appeared nervous, so the officer conducted a pat-down search to check for weapons, during which Thornton produced bags of marijuana and crack cocaine from his pocket. Id. The officer arrested Thornton and secured him in a squad car, then searched Thornton's car and discovered a handgun. Id. Thornton moved to suppress the search, but the trial court denied his motion and a jury convicted him of possession of a firearm by a felon. Id. at 618–19.

On appeal, the Supreme Court addressed the constitutionality of the search in light of Thornton's placement in the squad car and inability to access his vehicle and any weapons or evidence therein. *Id.* at 619. The Court commented that the situation was similar to that in *Belton*. *Id.* at 620–21. It reasoned that police should not have to choose between safely securing an arrestee in a squad car and searching the arrestee's vehicle, and therefore held that the

fact of arrest did not undermine the rationale of the vehicle search. Id. at 621-22.

Justice Scalia, joined by Justice Ginsburg, concurred in the result. Id. at 625 (Scalia, J., concurring). Justice Scalia expressed concern at the Court's stretching of the officer safety rationale to situations where a defendant is secured away from his vehicle and clearly poses no threat to officers. Id. at 625. Instead, Justice Scalia wrote, vehicle searches incident to arrest are lawful "not because the arrestee might grab a weapon or evidentiary item from his car, but simply because the car might contain evidence relevant to the crime for which he was arrested." Id. at 629. In support of this position, he commented, "There is nothing irrational about broader police authority to search for evidence when and where the perpetrator of a crime is lawfully arrested. The fact of prior lawful arrest distinguishes the arrestee from society at large, and distinguishes a search for evidence of *his* crime from general rummaging." Id. at 630. He continued, "it is not illogical to assume that evidence of a crime is most likely to be found where the suspect was apprehended." Id.

In describing the limiting factors for vehicle searches incident to arrest, Justice Scalia pointed to two cases where there was "no reasonable basis to believe relevant evidence might be found in the car." *Id.* at 632 (citing *Atwater v. Lago Vista*, 532 U.S. 318 (2001); *Knowles v. Iowa*, 525 U.S. 113 (1998)). *Atwater* involved an arrest for a violation of Texas's seatbelt law, *Atwater*, 532 U.S. at 323–324, while *Knowles* considered Iowa's "search incident to citation" law and involved a search following a citation for speeding without an arrest. *Knowles*, 525 U.S. at 118. Because cases like *Atwater* and *Knowles* would not support a vehicle search, Justice Scalia stated, he "would therefore limit *Belton* searches to cases where it is reasonable to believe evidence relevant to the crime of arrest might be found." *Thornton*, 541 U.S. at 632 (Scalia, J. concurring).

Finally, the Court confronted the problematic underpinnings of *Belton* head-on in *Arizona v. Gant.* In *Gant*, police responded to a tip that a certain house was being used to sell drugs. Gant, 556 U.S. at 335. Police knocked on the door of the house and Gant answered, identified himself, and told police that the owner would return later. Id. at 335–36. The officers ran a records check, which revealed that Gant had a suspended driver's license and that there was a warrant out for his arrest for driving on his suspended license. Id. at 336. Later that evening, police returned to the house and arrested two other people. Id. As that occurred, Gant returned to the house driving his car. Id. He parked about 30 feet away from the officers, got out of his car, and shut the door. Id. The officers arrested Gant, handcuffed him, and placed him in the back of a squad car. Id. Officers then searched Gant's car, which revealed a gun and a bag of cocaine. Id.

Gant moved to suppress the evidence, claiming that the search of his car was not constitutional under *Belton* "because he posed no threat to the officers after he was handcuffed in the patrol car and because he was arrested for a traffic offense for which no evidence could be found in his vehicle." *Id.* When asked at the suppression hearing about the reason for the search of Gant's car, an officer replied, "Because the law says we can do it." *Id.* at 337. After protracted state court proceedings, the Arizona Supreme Court ruled that the evidence must be suppressed, reasoning that *Belton* did not address a situation where the scene is already secure. *Id.* 

The United States Supreme Court affirmed. The Court acknowledged that after *Belton*, courts began to "treat the ability to search a vehicle incident to the arrest of a recent occupant as a police entitlement rather than as an exception justified by the twin rationales of *Chimel.*" *Id.* at 342 (quoting *Thornton*, 541 U.S. at 624 (O'Conner, J., concurring in part)). It took issue with this treatment: "To read *Belton* as authorizing a vehicle search incident to every recent occupant's arrest would thus untether the rule of the justifications underlying the *Chimel* exception ...." *Gant*, 556 U.S. at 343. The Court therefore held "that the *Chimel* rationale authorizes police to search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only when the arrestee is unsecured and within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search." *Id.* 

However, the Court explained that apart from the *Chimel* rationale, "circumstances unique to the automobile context justify a search incident to arrest when it is reasonable to believe that evidence of the offense of arrest might be found in the vehicle." *Id.* at 335. It determined that in certain circumstances "the offense of arrest will supply a basis for searching the passenger compartment of an arrestee's vehicle and any containers therein." *Id.* at 344. The search of Gant's car was unreasonable, however, "[b]ecause police could not reasonably have believed . . . that evidence of the offense for which [Gant] was arrested might have been found" in Gant's car. *Id.* 

So, under *Gant*, the search-incident-to-arrest doctrine allows police to search a vehicle in two situations: "if the arrestee is within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search or it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of arrest." *Gant*, 556 U.S. at 351. "When these justifications are absent, a search of an arrestee's vehicle will be unreasonable unless police obtain a warrant or show that another exception to the warrant requirement applies." *Id*. In other words, the *Gant* Court identified and affirmed a rationale for a vehicle search incident to arrest not reliant on officer safety or evidence preservation for justification. Instead, such a search is allowed for purposes of evidence collection. The standard necessary to permit such a search is that it must be "reasonable to believe that evidence of the offense of arrest might be found in the vehicle." *Id.* at 335. And while drug offenses provide a basis for a vehicle search, other infractions—such as speeding and seatbelt violations do not. *Id.* at 343–44 (citing *Atwater*, 532 U.S. at 324; *Knowles*, 525 U.S. at 118; *Belton*, 453 U.S. 454; *Thornton*, 541 U.S. 615). The focus is on "the offense of arrest." *Id.* at 344.

B. Under the categorical approach to *Gant*, OWI is an offense that provides a reasonable basis for a vehicle search incident to the driver's arrest, justifying the search of Coffee's car.

The parties agree that police had probable cause to arrest Coffee for OWI. The parties further agree that Coffee was secured in the back of a squad car when police began the search of his car. Therefore, the parties agree that the constitutionality of the search of Coffee's car is governed by the second part of *Gant*: a vehicle search incident to an occupant's arrest is constitutional "when it 'is reasonable to believe evidence relevant to the crime of arrest might be found in the vehicle." *Gant*, 556 U.S. at 343 (quoting *Thornton*, 541 U.S. at 632 (Scalia, J., concurring)).

Since *Gant*, courts around the nation have confronted what it means for it to be "reasonable to believe evidence relevant to the crime of arrest might be found" in an arrestee's vehicle. Two major approaches have emerged. *See generally* 3 Wayne R. LaFave, Search And Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment § 7.1(d) (5th ed. 2019). "Some courts have concluded or implied that whether it is reasonable to believe offense-related evidence might be found in a vehicle is determined solely by reference to the nature of the offense of arrest, rather than by reference to the particularized facts of the case." *People v. Evans*, 133 Cal. Rptr. 3d 323, 333 (Cal. App. 2011). The State refers to this as the "categorical approach." Other courts, however, "have required some level of particularized suspicion, based at least in part on the facts of the specific case." *Id.* The State refers to this as the "circumstantial approach."

# 1. The categorical approach to *Gant* is the proper approach for courts to use when analyzing the constitutionality of a vehicle search incident to arrest.

The court of appeals effectively adopted the categorical approach to *Gant* when it declared "as a matter of law that when an officer lawfully arrests a driver for OWI, . . . a search of the interior of the vehicle, including any containers therein, is lawful because it is reasonable to believe evidence relevant to the offense of OWI might be found." *Coffee*, 387 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 13. Far from blazing some previously uncontemplated trail through the fields of Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, the court of appeals' holding fit squarely within the categorical approach to the *Gant* decision. That approach represents the better reading of *Gant* for at least two reasons.

First, the categorical approach finds support in the language and analysis of *Gant* itself. As the Court stated, in certain cases, "the offense of arrest will supply a basis for searching the passenger compartment of an arrestee's vehicle and any containers therein." *Gant*, 556 U.S. at 344. The Court's focus on "the offense of arrest" rather than the factual specifics of a particular stop is telling. It strongly indicates that the Court was less concerned with limiting searches to

certain factual scenarios and more focused on curtailing searches in certain egregious cases.

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